FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/15/2022 4:06 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

#### No. 82839-8-I IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

Supreme Court No. 101070-2\_\_\_\_\_

TARA MARTIN,

Petitioner,

v.

DANIEL MARTIN and KRISTIN PRUST,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_

Dennis J. McGlothin, WSBA #28177 Robert J. Cadranell, WSBA #41773 Attorneys for Petitioner, Tara Martin Western Washington Law Group, PLLC P.O. Box 468 Snohomish, Washington 98291 (425) 728-7296 docs@westwalaw.com

#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Review in this case should be accepted because the Court of Appeals opinion (the "Opinion") deprived a special needs child and her common law de facto parent who cared for the child and functioned as the child's parent for over five years of their relationship and the familial rights they both were guaranteed. Moreover, Petitioner remained in an abusive relationship with the child's guardian up until he was arrested for domestic violence. Then, as is typical for abusers, the guardian violated his criminal no contact order to deprive the Appellant and child access to one another. He then, like the genetic parent in *In re Parentage of L.B.*, used the genetic mother to object to the Appellant's de facto parentage status. The trial court, and then the Court of Appeals, denied Appellant of her and the child's de facto parent-child relationship under the best interests of the child standard. She had arranged treatment for the child for her special needs, enrolled her in school, coached her with independent living skills, and left her indelible fingerprints on the child. Then, in a power and control

dynamic relationship with her former husband, who was the child's legal guardian, the love and nurturing that both the child and Petitioner experienced was taken from them through an unconstitutional statute that was unconstitutionally applied to them by the trial court and the Court of Appeals. This unconstitutional deprivation of constitutional rights must be remedied through review to this Court for the countless children and third parties who have become de facto parents and seek to have their de facto parentage status adjudicated in this and other states under the Revised Uniform Parentage Act ("RUPA").

#### II. PETITIONER'S IDENTITY

Petitioner Tara Martin is the Appellant at the Court of Appeals and the Petitioner in the trial court.

# III. CITATION TO APPELLATE DECISION TO BE REVIEWED

Petitioner requests the Washington Supreme Court review the Washington State Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion in *In the Matter of the Parentage of A.P.*, Case No. 82839-8-I, Washington

Court of Appeals, Division One (June 6, 2022), referred to herein as the "Opinion."

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND

#### **ARGUMENT**

- A. Summary of Grounds for Review
  - 1. Constitutional Rights.
- a. The Opinion violates the Appellant's and the child's substantive due process rights that they are guaranteed by both the federal and our state's constitutions. At its heart, the Opinion does not give a defacto parent (a person who is a legally recognized parent), the deference required when a third party (not a legally recognized parent) challenges the de facto parent's status because it uses the "best interests of the child" standard. *Troxel v*. *Granville*, 530 U.S. 57, 68, 120 S.Ct. 2054, 147 L.Ed.2d 49 (2000).

Here, the Opinion unconstitutionally deprives a child's de facto parent to deference in decision making over the child by allowing the child's legal guardian and unfit genetic parent to

challenge the de facto parent's status using the "best interests of the child standard." A de facto parent stands in parity with a genetic parent or adopted parent and is a legally recognized parent. *In re Parentage of L.B.*, 155 Wn.2d 679, 122 P.3d 161 (2005). A child's guardian is a third party who temporarily makes parent-like decisions for a child when all the child's legally recognized parents are unfit. In re Parentage of J.B.R., 184 Wn. App. 203, 336 P.3d 648 (2014). In Washington, a legally recognized parent has a fundamental constitutional right to make parental decisions for their child without government interference. *In re Custody of* Smith, 37 Wn.2d 1, 15, 969 P.2d 21 (1998), aff'd on other grounds sub nom. That is why a guardian must show that a parent is unfit and not capable of making parent decisions for a child before courts may deprive a legally recognized parent of their constitutional right to be free from interference with their decision making. In re Parentage of J.B.R., 184 Wn. App. 203, 336 P.3d 648 (2014). At the very least, the courts must allow a legally recognized deference to their decision and that deference

requires more than a best interests of the child" standard." *Troxel* v. *Granville*, 530 U.S. at 68. In doing so, the Opinion failed to recognize or address a child's constitutional rights like the ones recognized in *McDaniels v. Carlson*, 108 Wn.2d 299, 738 P.2d 254 (1987) and *State v. Santos*, 104 Wn.2d 142, 702 P.2d 1179 (1985).

Here, the trial court and the Court of Appeals allowed the legal guardian to use the unfit genetic parent's status to defeat
Appellant's petition to establish herself as the child's de facto
parent status by applying RCW 26.26.440A(g) to require Appellant
continuing in her role as the child's de facto parent upon her
proving that it is in the child's best interests. RCW
26.26A.441(3)(b) allows a child's legal guardian as well as an unfit
genetic parent a right to respond to a de facto parentage petition,
but does not establish the standard that is to be applied to them
when making a de facto parentage determination. Here, the
guardian ad litem, the trial court, and the Court of Appeals
considered the guardian's challenge to Appellant's de facto

parentage petition by finding the Appellant did not prove she met the burden of proof to establish that her continuing in the role as the child's de facto parent is in the child's best interests.

This is manifest Constitutional error it multiple regards. First, it did not allow her deference to her continuing to make parental decisions for the child by requiring her to prove that they were in the child's best interests. Second, it allowed a legal guardian, who is a third-party non-parent, to require the de facto parent to meet that burden of proof. Third, it allowed a genetic parent, who had voluntarily abdicated her parental responsibilities for over five years knowing the Appellant would be acting as the parent and establishing the parental bond with the child without her asserting she was now a fit parent and challenging the guardianship. IN conclusion, the legal guardian and unfit parent were allowed to deprive the child and the only person who asserted was a fit legally recognized parent from their relationship based on the best interest of the child standard. This is manifest constitutional error and was raised to the trial court in closing argument on April 8, 2021.

b. The Opinion unconstitutionally applies RCW 26.26A.440(g) to extinguish Appellant's de facto parenting rights that she acquired prior to the statute becoming effective. In re Custody of B.M.H., 179 Wn.2d 224, 315 P.3d 470 (2013); and *In re Parentage of* J.B.R., 184 Wn. App. 203. Here, the Opinion, which requires Appellant prove the 7 factors in RCW 26.26.440A, extinguished Appellant's common law de facto parent status. Because Appellant had lived with the child for almost six years prior to the statute's effective date (January 1, 2019) and separated from the child by the guardian one month after the effective date, Appellant's de facto parent status had either been obtained or not obtained prior to the statute becoming effective. *In re Custody of B.M.H.*, 179 Wn.2d 224, 315 P.3d 470 (2013).

#### 2. Conflict with this Court's Opinions.

The Opinion fails to obey vertical stare decisis and conflicts with other decisions from this Court in two other important ways.

a. First, it rewarded the wrongdoer(s) and punished the child when it erroneously concluded that Petitioner could not

established while they lived together for over five years had deteriorated because the child's guardian, a third-party non-parent, interfered with and prohibited their access to one another. This was exacerbated and held against Appellant and the child due to delays caused by COVID-19 and an unanticipated disruption in the guardian ad litem producing a report. If estrangement caused by another person with control over the child were allowed, then the de facto parent in *In re: Parentage of In re Parentage of L.B.*, 155 Wn.2d 679, 122 P.3d 161 (2005) would not have been held to be a de facto parent

b. Second, the Opinion erroneously concluded a statutory gap was a condition precedent to an equitable common law de facto parentage adjudication. The Court of Appeals ignored the precedent in *In re Custody of A.F.J.*, 179 Wn.2d 179, 314 P.3d 373 (2016) and concluded there must be a gap in the statutory framework before allowing equity to legally recognize de facto parentage, and that any statutory gap was eliminated by the

enactment of the RUPA and was unavailable. <u>See</u> In re Parentage of J.B.R., 184 Wn. App. 203, 336 P.3d 648 (Div. 3, 2014).

In doing so, the Opinion holds the RUPA, specifically, RCW 26.26A.440 abrogates equitable common law de facto parentage as articulated in *In re Parentage of L.B.*, 155 Wn.2d 679, 122 P.3d 161 (2005))RCW 26.26A.440 abrogated equitable common law de facto parentage actions. This application is both unconstitutional and erroneous. *See*, *In re Custody of B.M.H.*, 179 Wn.2d 224, 315 P.3d 470 (2013); and *In re Parentage of J.B.R.*, 184 Wn. App. 203, 336 P.3d 648 (Div. 3, 2014)

Not only is this unconstitutional, but it reads out of existence RCW 26.26A,020 that specifically states that the RUPA shall not abrogate or reduce rights a de facto parent may have under the common law.

#### 3. Conflict with Other Divisions.

The Opinion did not analyze horizontal stare decises and did not address patent conflicts with other published Court of Appeals' opinions from other divisions. The Opinion conflicts

with *In re Parentage of J.B.R.*, 184 Wn. App. 203, 336 P.3d 648 (Div. 3, 2014), and *Walker v. Riley*, 19 Wn. App.2d 592, 498 P.3d 33 (Div. 3, 2021) when it concluded a genetic parent who voluntarily abdicated their parental duties to a third party for over 5 years, knowing the third party was fulfilling the parental duties for the child in the genetic parent's absence and was developing a parent-child relationship with the child did not "*necessarily*" "foster *or* encourage" that relationship. This conflicts with the holding in *Walker* explicitly holds that when this occurs, fostering and encouraging "*necessarily*" results. *Walker v. Riley*, 19 Wn. App.2d 592, 498 P.3d 33 (2021).

### 4. Public Importance.

Finally, this is a matter of great public importance. Not only is this a case of constitutional proportions that affects the Appellant and the child in this case, but its impact will be felt by defacto parents and children in this State that confront the same issue. The impacts will be felt by children and third parties who have become de facto parents beyond our State's borders. The RUPA is

Washington's enactment of a *uniform* act. Because it is a uniform act, this decision will serve as persuasive authority for other states that have adopted their own version of the RUPA.

- B. Conflicts with Decisions of this Court and other Appellate Divisions.
- 4. Whether a parent who voluntarily absents herself from her child's life for an extended period "necessarily" "fosters or encourages" the resulting de facto parent relationship.

The Opinion held that a genetic parent who voluntarily absented themselves from their child's life for over five years knowing that another adult would provide the child the care and love they deserve can challenge de facto parenting because their abdication with that knowledge did not "foster <u>or</u> encourage" the resulting parent-child relationship. Division Three has held in two reported decisions that when a parent engages in this abdication with that knowledge, then they "necessarily" foster and encourage that relationship. *In re Parentage of J.B.R.*, 184 Wn. App. 203, 336 P.3d 648 (Div. 3, 2014), and *Walker v. Riley*, 19 Wn. App.2d 592,

498 P.3d 33 (Div. 3, 2021). The Opinion conflicts with these two decisions.

#### C. Substantial Public Interest.

1. Rights of de facto parents. This matter substantially affects public interest because it involves an adult who lived with and cared for a child, for a period of years, managing her medical appointments and helping with school, and treating her as her own child, but whose de facto parentage petition was denied.

#### V. CASE STATEMENT

A.P. (or the "Child"), today a teenage girl (although still under age 18, RP 546:20-24, March 18, 2021), lived with Tara Martin (now known as Tara Charf, the "Petitioner") and her husband Daniel Martin. CP 1, 280, 282. Tara and Daniel Martin had been married since 2013. *Id*. The relationship that developed between Tara and A.P. during the years they lived together was the basis for Tara's de facto parentage petition.

The Child's genetic father, Bill Prust, died July 8, 2012. CP 282; RP 546:20-24; 555 (March 18, 2021). Respondent Kristin

Prust, the Child's genetic mother, assumed sole custody after Bill Prust died. RP 560-62 (March 18, 2021). Kristin Prust then traveled in July, 2013 with the Child and the Child's brother to Malaysia to live aboard a sailboat with the Child's maternal grandfather (Respondent Kristin Prust's father). RP 563-64 (March 18, 2021).

The Child's brother adapted comfortably to the new setting. RP 565:16-19 (March 18, 2021). The Child herself however did not do well living on the boat. RP 741:21-22 (Mar. 26, 2021); 565:20-566:14 (March 18, 2021). Consequently, after just four months in Malaysia, Respondent Kristin Prust traveled with the child from Malaysia to Washington state. RP 566:15-22 (March 18, 2021). Kristin Prust's plan for herself and the Child was to stay for about a week with the Martin family (Respondent Daniel Martin and his then-wife Petitioner Tara Martin), at the Martin family's invitation. RP 568:2-4 (March 18, 2021).

long-time acquaintance of Respondent Kristin Prust. RP 568:12-21 (March 18, 2021).

However, Kristin Prust left the Martin home and moved to a hotel after just three days. RP 569:7-14 (March 18, 2021). From there, she moved to a rental in the Crown Hill neighborhood of Seattle. RP 569:25-570:5 (March 18, 2021).

The Child, meanwhile, remained living with the Martin family. RP 569:15-22 (March 18, 2021). To facilitate enrolling the Child in school and arranging for her routine healthcare, Kristin Prust discussed establishing a guardianship; she was not herself capable of taking care of the Child. RP 570:8-571:4 (March 18, 2021). After discussion, Kristin Prust agreed to a guardianship for the Child. RP 570:25-571: 1 (March 18, 2021).

Daniel Martin then became the legal guardian of A.P. (not a parent) on November 27, 2013. CP 2, 281-82. Kristin Prust relinquished custody of A.P. to Daniel Martin on or around July 24, 2014, when a Decree and Findings of Fact were entered in a third-party custody action. CP 3. A.P. is a child with special

needs; over the years, she has gone through counseling and many appointments with professionals to address diagnosed ADHD. CP 282.

A.P. continued to live with Tara and Daniel Martin for approximately five years and three months, until the couple separated in February of 2019. CP 280. This followed Daniel Martin's arrest for domestic violence. CP 27. After the separation, A.P. lived with Daniel Martin and his family, CP 280. The trial court found that there had been a February 22, 2019 domestic violence incident and arrest of Daniel Martin from which the separation and dissolution was derived. CP 283. *See also* CP 27. The trial court also found that "Mr. Martin was solely responsible for... when and how to discipline [A.P.]," CP 283, and significantly, "found some acts of discipline concerning." *Id*.

During the many years that A.P. lived with Petitioner and Daniel Martin, the Petitioner fully assumed a parental role for A.P. Petitioner made decisions regarding her medical care,

assisted with schoolwork, helped her decorate her room, helped purchase clothing for her, facilitated sports and planned birthdays, and attended counseling with her. CP 28. Petitioner was a stay-at-home mom to her son and to A.P. for over three years. CP 29. Petitioner attended A.P.'s parent/teacher conferences, attended school performances, made sure A.P. had either a home-made lunch or bought lunch each school day, prepared her breakfast, volunteered at her school, and scheduled and took her to medical appointments. CP 29. Petitioner tracked A.P.'s medication and signed her up for sports. CP 30. She included A.P. in all family vacations, introduced A.P. to her extended family, and made costumes for A.P. for Halloween and school events. CP 31. She would read to A.P. at bedtime, taught her crafts and gardening, and enjoyed games and puzzles with her. CP 32.

After leaving the Martin home, Kristin Prust visited with the child, RP 574 (March 18, 2021). But in 2014 she discovered and disclosed that she had developed an infection, and she

stopped visiting the child that year. RP 580:2-582:10 (March 18, 2021). Ms. Prust did not have any further in-person contact with A.P. until after the February 2019 separation of Daniel and Tara Martin. RP 659:7-14 (March 26, 2021). Respondent Kristin Prust did not resume regular visits with A.P. until November, 2019. RP 600:2-13 (March 18, 2021).

On June 17, 2019, approximately four months after the separation, Tara Martin filed a Non-Parent Custody Petition in the King County Superior Court, seeking custody of A.P. CP 1-12. Petitioner also asked the court to recognize her as a de facto parent of A.P. CP 279. Her Petition named Daniel Martin and Kristin Prust as Respondents. CP 1.

In her Petition, Tara Martin alleged that Kristin Prust was either unfit as a parent, or even if fit, that A.P. would suffer actual detriment to her growth and development if she lived with Kristin Prust, and that Kristin Prust had not seen or spoken to A.P. since the end of 2014. CP 2.

As to Daniel Martin, Tara Charf alleged he was not a suitable third party custodian for A.P. for having engaged in a history of acts of domestic violence, his substance abuse/dependency problem, and his abusive use of conflict posing a danger to A.P.'s development. CP 3.

Both Daniel Martin (A.P.'s non-parent guardian) and Kristin Prust (A.P.'s genetic mother) filed Responses in opposition to the Petition in July of 2019. CP 13-16 and 17-21. The Martins' dissolution case was not consolidated with the custody case.

On October 14, 2019, the trial court entered an Order on Adequate Cause for Non-Parent Custody (CP 161-65), stating: "The court does not find there is sufficient evidence to support a finding of adequate cause for a Non Parental Custody Action. However, the court finds there is sufficient information for the court to determine that Ms. Martin may be a de facto parent under [RCW] 26.26A.440." CP 162. Also on October 14, 2019, the court entered an Order Appointing Guardian ad Litem, appointing Dr. Melanie English as GAL. CP 166-69. The order

apportioned GAL fees to Petitioner, adding that these fees were subject to reapportionment. CP 168.

Ten days later, on October 24, 2019, both Petitioner and Respondent Daniel Martin filed Motions to Revise Commissioner's Ruling. CP 177-91. Daniel Martin argued that it was error to find that Tara Martin might be a de facto parent and that her Petition should be dismissed. CP 177. Tara Martin argued that it was error not to have found sufficient evidence to support a finding of adequate cause for a non-parental custody action. CP 189. The judge who heard the revision motions denied them both and entered an order on November 13, 2019, stating that the matter would proceed to trial on the de facto parentage issue. CP 207-208.

Dr. English, the GAL, determined that she had a conflict of interest and withdrew from the case on March 5, 2020. CP 210. The parties agreed to substitute Elise Buie as GAL, CP 210, and the trial court entered an agreed order on April 10, 2020 making this GAL substitution. CP 209-214. Just a few weeks later,

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