FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/18/2022 4:51 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101070-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TARA MARTIN,

Petitioner,

and

DANIEL MARTIN and KRISTIN PRUST,

Respondents.

CO-RESPONDENT DANIEL MARTIN'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Valerie A. Villacin WSBA No. 34515

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent Daniel Martin

A. Introduction.

The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision affirmed dismissal of petitioner Tara Charf's petition for de facto parentage of respondent Kristin Prust's daughter AP, who is nearly 17 years old and who has expressly stated her desire not to have a continuing relationship with petitioner, the former wife of respondent Dan Martin, AP's legal guardian under an agreed nonparental custody order. Petitioner failed to establish three of the seven statutory factors to establish herself as a de facto parent-two of which are nearly identical to the factors under the common law standard established by this Court in Parentage of L.B., 155 Wn.2d 679, 122 P.3d 161 (2005), cert. denied, 547 U.S. 1143 (2006), upon which petitioner so heavily relies.

The Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court's factual finding that petitioner failed to establish herself as AP's de facto parent does not raise an issue of substantial public interest warranting review by this Court,

and as petitioner was never established to be a "de facto parent," her professed assertions of what is "best" for AP are not entitled to constitutional deference. The trial court properly applied the statutory standard for de facto parentage that was in effect when petitioner filed her petition and the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court does not conflict with those decisions applying the common law standard for de facto parentage. As there are no grounds under RAP 13.4 to warrant review of the Court of Appeals' decision, this Court should deny review.

B. Restatement of the Case.

1. Kristin Prust is AP's mother. Dan Martin is AP's guardian under an agreed 2014 nonparental custody order. Tara Charf is Dan's former wife.

AP is nearly 17 years old; she was born on November 7, 2005 to respondent Kristin Prust and the late Bill Prust, who died when AP was six years old. (CP 196-97) Respondent Dan Martin is AP's godfather and legal

guardian under an agreed nonparental custody order entered July 22, 2014. (RP 740-41; CP 37-40)

AP began living with Dan, who was then married to petitioner, Tara Charf, in November 2013, when AP was age 8. (RP 313) Eight months later, Kristin agreed to nonparental custody order because she was still "completely broken" from the death of AP's father and suffering from mental health issues that prevented her from working and properly caring for AP. (RP 570-71, 663) Kristin "explicitly left off Tara" from this order, wanting there to be a "clear delineation" between Dan and Tara, and limited AP's guardianship to Dan alone. (See CP 38, 102, 199, 327; RP 631, 742)

2. AP lived with both Dan and Tara from the ages of 8 to 13. After Dan and Tara separated in February 2019, AP lived with Dan.

When AP began living with Dan and Tara in November 2013, they were both working fulltime. (RP 640) In January 2015, Tara left her job and stayed home to care

for her and Dan's son, who has special needs. (RP 338)
Tara returned to fulltime employment in August 2018. (RP 340)

No one disputes that while Tara lived with Dan and AP she provided care for AP while also caring for her and Dan's son, but it was also understood that each adult had a primary role for each child. Dan was primarily responsible for AP, and Tara was primarily responsible for the son. (RP 413, 705-06, 749, 905-06)

Tara and Dan separated on February 23, 2019 when Dan was arrested after an alleged domestic violence incident. (FF 12, CP 283) The facts surrounding the incident that resulted in Dan's arrest were highly disputed—Tara alleged that Dan was the initial aggressor and Dan alleged it was Tara. (*Compare* RP 401-03 *with* RP 778-80) As the trial court found, "[i]t is not clear to the Court what specifically occurred in this incident other than that there was admitted physical contact." (FF 12, CP 283)

Nevertheless, Dan accepted a plea deal that allowed him to avoid a trial that might cause AP "trauma" if she were called as a witness. (RP 772-74) After fulfilling the terms of his plea agreement, Dan's probation ended early and the City dismissed its charges against Dan with prejudice. (See RP 777; CP 48)

As she does in this Court, Tara tried to use this incident to seek custody of AP in both a nonparental custody action, which was dismissed at a threshold hearing, and the de facto parentage action, which was dismissed after a trial. Neither court found Tara's claims of domestic violence against Dan credible enough to warrant limiting Dan's contact with AP. (See RP 16; FF 12, CP 283)

The night of Dan's arrest, Tara sent AP to stay with a close friend of Dan. (See RP 89) The GAL, who was appointed in the de facto parentage action, found it "surprising" that Tara, who purportedly viewed herself as

AP's mother, did not keep AP with her after Dan's arrest. (RP 90)

While Tara disputed that she "kicked out" AP after Dan was arrested (RP 124), it is undisputed that it was her decision to send AP to stay with Dan's friend that night. (RP 404, 928) It is also undisputed that she did not seek to prevent Dan's brother from picking up AP the following day so that she could stay with his family. (RP 756-57) Once AP went to stay with Dan's brother, she never returned to live in the home that she and Dan previously shared with Tara, which Tara owned prior to her marriage to Dan. (*See* CP 323; RP 367-68)

After moving out of the shared home, AP was reluctant to see Tara, and made no attempt to contact Tara despite Dan placing no limits on her ability to do so. (*See e.g.*, RP 728, 749-50, 768, 770-71, 782-83, 803; CP 343) Tara also made no attempt to obtain visitation with AP, who primarily lived with Dan's brother for the first six

months after Dan and Tara separated while Dan worked out the terms of his probation and looked for a home that was appropriate for him and AP. (*See* RP 768, 770-71, 782, 803)

3. While living primarily with Dan, AP resumed regular visits with her mother Kristin, whose contact with AP had been previously been restricted by Dan and Tara.

After separating from Tara, Dan contacted Kristin to inform her that he and AP were no longer living in the home they had shared with Tara. (*See* RP 640-41) At that time, Kristin had not had any significant contact with AP since the end of 2014. In the first year after AP moved in with Dan, Kristin saw AP regularly. (RP 574) However, after Kristin contracted Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), Dan and Tara restricted Kristin's contact with AP due to concerns for their son, whose health was compromised due to various issues. (RP 580-82, 659, 830-31; CP 156, 198)

By the time Dan reached out to Kristin about his separation with Tara, she was still suffering breakouts from MRSA, but had made recent improvements in her life and used this opportunity to resume visits with AP. (RP 607-09, 631, 634, 669-70; CP 157; Ex. 45 at 6-7) After negotiations between Dan and Kristin on how best to protect AP and Dan from MRSA, Kristin and AP resumed contact. (RP 586-87) By November 2019, Kristin and AP, then age 14, were having regular weekly in-person visits, except for a brief suspension due to COVID-19, when Kristin and AP still remained in touch. (RP 600; Ex. 45 at 11-12, 14) By all accounts, AP was happy to renew her relationship with Kristin, and regularly texted and called Kristin when they were not together. (Ex. 45 at 15-16, 18-19; RP 679, 746-47, 758, 764, 874-75)

4. Four months after Dan and AP moved out of Tara's home, Tara filed a petition for de facto parentage of AP.

In June 2019, four months after AP left Tara's home, Tara filed a petition for nonparental custody, or alternatively de facto parentage, to which both Dan and Kristin objected. (CP 1, 9, 14, 19) On October 14, 2019, a court commissioner found no adequate cause on Tara's petition for nonparental custody (CP 161-65) but found "sufficient information for the court to determine that Ms. Martin may be a de facto parent under RCW 26.26A.440." (CP 162) The court appointed a guardian ad litem (GAL) to report on, among other matters, AP's "preferences." (CP 167)

A year passed between the time the court found adequate cause on Tara's petition for de facto parentage (CP 163) and the GAL issued his report. (CP 309) During that period AP had no contact with Tara, and Tara made no effort to seek agreed or court-ordered visitation with AP.

At the time of the GAL's investigation, AP, age 15, stated her preference to not have contact with Tara. (CP 342-44, 349) The GAL reported that AP had nothing overtly negative to say about Tara (CP 355), and AP acknowledged that "when she lived with Tara, she got along well with her" (CP 343), but she had no desire to resume contact or continue their relationship. AP expressed that "Tara is not part of her life anymore and [AP] has moved on" and did not "need" or "want" to see Tara. (CP 343)

The GAL described AP as "intelligent, doing well in school, and by all reports and observation is a well-functioning and happy young woman." (CP 349) The GAL reported that AP is "clear about what she does and does not want. She would like to continue to reside with Danny and to spend some time with Kristin. She is not interested in reconnecting with Tara." (CP 358) While the GAL had some concern that AP may have been influenced in her decision, he found no evidence of "alienating behavior" by

others (RP 118), and no evidence that suggested that AP's "stated preference was not reasoned or independent." (CP 358)

5. In June 2021, after a 6-day trial, the trial court dismissed Tara's de facto parentage petition.

Eight months after the GAL issued his report, the parties appeared for trial on Tara's de facto parentage petition. By then, Tara and AP had not seen each other for more than two years.

After 6 days of trial, the trial court dismissed Tara's petition for de facto parentage. The trial court found that Tara failed to prove three of the statutory factors under RCW 26.26A.440(4) to establish de facto parentage. The trial court found it was not in AP's best interest to continue a relationship with Tara. (FF 12, CP 282-83; FF 13, CP 283-84) In making this determination, the trial court found it was not in AP's best interest to require her to continue her relationship with Tara in light of AP's "strong-minded"

expressed desire to not have contact." (FF 12, CP 282) The trial court considered that "any step taken by the Court" to require contact between AP and Tara would entail some form of reunification assessment and potentially reunification counseling, and because AP has already "endured counseling and many appointments over the years to address diagnosed ADHD," to "add yet another obligation to the life of what is reported to be a now well-adjusted and assertive teenager at a difficult and busy time in life" would not be in AP's best interests. (FF 12, CP 282)

The trial court found that while Tara proved that she and AP "bonded and cared" for each other while living together, that bond did not survive after they began living separately, indicating "that the bond they shared was not a strong one." (FF 10, CP 281) The trial court noted that if AP "truly had a bond" with Tara that was dependent and parent-like, "one would expect AP to be seeking out" Tara,

but "AP has not sought contact with [Tara] since [Dan] and [Tara] separated." (FF 10, CP 281)

Finally, the trial court found that Kristin, AP's only living parent, did not foster or support Tara forming a bonded and dependent parental relationship with AP. (FF 11, CP 281) The trial court noted that Kristin made a "conscious and clear decision" to exclude Tara as a guardian for AP, and only intended for Dan to be guardian with the authority to make decisions for AP. (FF 11, CP 281) The trial court concluded that knowing Tara "would be caring for AP to assist" Dan is not the same as supporting Tara "forming . . . a bonded and dependent relationship with AP" that was parental in nature. (FF 12, CP 281)

6. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision in an unpublished decision.

In an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Tara's de facto parentage petition. First, it rejected Tara's claim, raised for

the first time on appeal, that the common law standard for de facto parentage, which existed prior to the legislature's enactment of RCW 26.26A.440(4) establishing the statutory elements for de facto parentage, should have been applied in this case. (Op. 4-6) As RCW 26.26A.440, became effective on January 1, 2019, six months before Tara filed her petition for de facto parentage, the Court held that the statute controls, and the trial court properly applied it in determining whether to dismiss Tara's petition. (Op. 5)

The Court also rejected Tara's constitutional challenge to RCW 26.26A.440, which was also raised for the first time on appeal. The Court held Tara "is not entitled to constitutional protection in this regard because, since she is not a parent of AP, she does not have a fundamental right to parent AP." (Op. 6)

Finally, the Court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Tara's petition for de facto parentage when substantial

evidence supported the trial court's findings of fact that Tara failed to meet three of the seven statutory factors necessary to establish herself as a de facto parent, and those findings in turn supported the trial court's dismissal of her petition. (Op. 8-10)

C. Grounds for Denying Review.

1. The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision does not raise any constitutional issues because Tara has no constitutional right to parent AP.

In seeking review, Tara claims that the Court of Appeals' decision "unconstitutionally deprives a child's de facto parent deference in decision making over the child by allowing the child's legal guardian and unfit genetic parent to change the de facto parent's status using the 'best interests of the child standard.'" (Petition 3-4) However, Tara has never been established a de facto parent for AP. Thus, the Court of Appeals properly held, "Tara is not entitled to constitutional protection in this regard because,

since she is not a parent of AP, she does not have a fundamental right to parent AP." (Op. 6)

Further, Kristin, AP's "genetic parent," has never been found to be "unfit." As the Court of Appeals held, Kristin remains AP's "legal and biological parent" and her rights have never been "forfeited or limited in any way." (Op. 6) If the lower courts were required to give deference to one of the parties in this case, it was to Kristin, AP's only parent at the time the trial court entered its order. Only Kristin had a constitutional right to "make decisions concerning the care, custody, and control" of her child. Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 66, 120 S. Ct. 2054, 2060, 147 L. Ed. 2d 49 (2000). These decisions include with whom her daughter should live and spend time with. See e.g. Magnusson v. Johannesson, 108 Wn. App. 109, 112, 29 P.3d 1256 (2001) ("a normal right of parental decisionmaking" is deciding which members of the father's family may care for the child in the father's absence during the father's residential time).

Tara also claims that this Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals "unconstitutionally applied" the Revised Uniform Parentage Act (RUPA) "to extinguish Appellant's de facto parenting rights she acquired prior to the statute becoming effective." (Petition 7) But again, Tara has never been established as a de facto parent, and thus never acquired any "parenting rights" to AP prior to the enactment of RUPA.

When the Legislature enacted RUPA, it established factors for de facto parentage under RCW 26.26A.440(4), replacing the common law standard adopted by this Court in *Parentage of L.B.*, 155 Wn.2d 679, 708, ¶ 40, 122 P.3d 161 (2005). The statutory factors under RCW 26.26A.440(4) are nearly identical to the common law factors adopted in *L.B.* However, one factor—whether "continuing the relationship between the individual and

the child is in the best interest of the child," RCW 26.26A.440(4)(g)—is unique to RUPA. Under the common law, an individual can establish "standing" as a de facto parent without proving that it is in the child's best interests. *L.B.*, 155 Wn.2d at 708, ¶ 40.

But whether that individual, who has standing as a de facto parent, is entitled to "any parental privileges" is determined based on the best interests of the child. *L.B.*, 155 Wn.2d at 708-09, ¶ 41. In other words, an individual who can establish standing as a de facto parent under the common law standard "is not entitled to any parental privileges, as a matter of right, but only as is determined to be in the best interests of the child at the center of any such dispute." *L.B.*, 155 Wn.2d at 708-09, ¶ 41. Thus, the child's "best interests" are the touchstone in both the statutory and common law formulations of de facto parentage.

Applying the RUPA in this case is not a "manifest constitutional error." (Petition 6) No court has ever

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